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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Amis-Elder House, ca. 1805, is an early small two-story plain style frame 
house with one-story rear wing; two rooms up and three down. It has the exterior 
end chimneys characteristic of this Southern style.

Plan; The house faces north. The front door is on center, flanked by one win­ 
dow on either side with three evenly spaced windows above. The small door, which has 
neither transom nor side lights, opens directly from the veranda into the east room, 
the parlor. Opposite the front door a door leads to the back porch and beside it are 
three open steps of the winding stair, enclosed from 'the fourth step up. Another door 
opens to the west room, the first bedroom. The plan achieves the esthetic advantage 
of a centered front door while providing extra space for the parlor by placing off- 
center 1 the partition between parlor and bedroom, andi~therefore, the summer beam. The 
parlor is 19*2" long by 17 ! 3" wide (the depth of the house)^ while -the bedroom is 
11-'10". by 17*3". Underthe stair is the usual cupboard. s The bedroom has7 an outside 
door (original- but with glass inserted) beside the chimney and another door" to the 
rear room-; •

Ceilings are 11* downstairs, 9' upstairs. The stairs led directly into the west 
bedroom, L-shaped since it included the space at the head of the stairs. An unusual 
feature is the windowed closet opening off this space, built parallel to the long leg 
of the stairs. Some years ago the head of the stairs was partitioned off from the 
west bedroom.

The rear wing has a pitched roof and consists of one large room, with a porch 
along its east side. (Recently a bathroom was installed at one end of this porch.) 
The rear room is original, as shown by sills, nails, dado, doors. It was without 
doubt originally the dining room, but was radically altered long ago, probably in the 
1880's or 90's, and made into a kitchen as well. (The original detached kitchen would 
have been in'the side'or back yard, beyofid ? the'smokehouse which stood until two years 
ago.) The fireplace, chimney and rear wall were removed, a stove and small stove 
chimney substituted^ and the rear wall,rebuilt. j It'-has oftly wife nails. A break in 
the dado shows the former location of the fireplace.

In addition to windows front and back, there were at *fi'rst> wi-ndows on either side 
of the parlor fireplace, which were boarded up years ago when wallpaper was first 
applied. There-are end windows in each bedroom. .(:<>;• i

Exterior; Windows have 9 lights over 9. Windowsills are hewn and very thick, but 
window and door moldings are quite elaborate. The original square-edged weatherboard- 
ing survives on much of the house, with wrought nails and early cut nails with wrought 
heads. The present veranda is at least the third, but the original was also a one- 
story full-width veranda, as shown by the smooth lower facade of shiplapped 10" boards, 
used also on the inner wall of the back porch. Such weatherboarding, preferred for 
porches, could only be used on protected walls. The hollow, heavy veranda pillars are 
mid-19th century, but the interesting square pillars on the back porch, with flared 
caps, are probably original and may be identical to the first front pillars. The 
house stands on granite and brick piers two to three feet off the ground, which slopes 
slightly. The roof.is flush with the wall at the ends, and once would have been 
finished with barge boards. The house once had blinds.

The chimneys are a handsome feature, made of good-quality brick with lime mortar. 
They rest on granite flagstones, are stepped, laid in American bond and have tumbled 
shoulders.

Interior; All rooms are walled with wide pine boards laid horizontally and ceiled 

with pine. All have dadoes, which downstairs are made of a single pine plank about
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Description - Interior, continued:

20" wide running the length of a wall, surmounting a heavy baseboard and 
capped by a wide chair rail, height 32". Floors are the original pine. 
Downstairs doors are six-paneled in a standard Georgian pattern, with 
planed edges on panels and stiles. While the bedroom mantels are well 
proportioned but fairly simple, the parlor mantel is a handsome, academic 
Federal mantel. The fireplaces are arched. The doors have butt hinges 
except for the closet's HL hinges.

A fine feature is the early wood-grain painting which survives on 
most doors and the dadoes in the parlor and one bedroom. The painting 
divides the dado into pseudo panels; each "panel" has a golden field 
with an exotic grain (imitating flame mahogany?), border and pseudo pilaster 
in rich brown; the corners are filled with little quarter rounds. On the 
brown doors, fine white lines outline the panels, again with quarter rounds, 
and a grain is painted in black.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
The significance of the Amis-Elder House is primarily architectural: it is a 

fine, now-rare example of an early plain-style house, relatively little-changed 
although continuously occupied for 170 years. The plain-style dwellingj'one and 
a half or two stories high (the latter often called plantation,plain), almost always 
with exterior end chimneys and usually of frame construction, was of course a basic 
type of Southern architecture. The style followed the migrations from the older 
colonies to Georgia and Alabama and across the Appalachians. However, by now 
Georgia examples from earlier than the 1820's are very rare, and some which sur­ 
vive are deteriorated or spoiled by remodeling or wrong-headed restoration. Hence 
the value of the Amis-Elder house.

Like all dwellings, the house also reflects the life style of its owners, who 
before the war were small planters, and after, could be called middle-class farmers. 
Amis, who was from North Carolina, not only acquired several thousand acres, but 
also, like his son, had the reputation of being a clever mechanic. (Thomas Amis, Jr 
in 1867 bought a place on Long Creek and built Amis' Mill, which ran until the 
1920 ! s.)

In 1797 Joseph Crockett bought for $12.25 in back taxes 150-acres of John 
Peek's grant of 287^ acres on Big Creek and the next year bought the rest for 60 
pounds. The acreage-was that of ;a standard Revolutionary '• bduhty grarit.1 'John 
Peek lived in Columbia County and had not improved his land, as shown by the price 
(Oglethorpe Co.- deed ,books B, 165; C, 43). In 1810 Crockett sold to Thomas Amis 
the 152 (150) acres sold in 1797 "including the plantation whereon the said Amis 
now lives" for $1,000, and in 1812 sold Amis the remaining 135 acres (for $500, 
which probably shows a log cabin; G,34; H,137.) It seems that Crockett had moved 
elsewhere, rented the farm to Amis, and then sold it to him. The great price jump 
from almost nothing to $1,000, as well as the wording of the deed, shows that the 
land had acquired a dwelling, kitchen, etc. between 1797 and 1810. The jump is too 
great for the value then placed on log houses, but is consistent with the value 
given frame dwellings plus other improvements. Since all the architectural evi­ 
dence places the house very early in the 19th century, the writer concludes that 
this is the house built between 1797 and 1810, hence a date of ca. 1805.

The very earliest dwellings on the frontier were almost always log, and the 
earliest frame houses were correspondingly simple. Most log and early frame 
houses were built by the settler or by the settler and his slaves. However, 
already in the second decade of settlement- in the'Piedmont, trained artisans were 
traveling through, offering their services -- masons, carpenter joiners, furniture 
makers. Governor Gilmer in his First Settlers of Upper Georgia (1855) writes of 
such a team of carpenters building Gov. Mathews's frame house in Oglethorpe 
County, in the mid-1790's, replacing a log cabin of 1784. Certainly the hand of 
trained craftsmen is evident in the Amis-Elder House -- that of an artisan
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Significance, continued

bricklayer and that of a joiner, whose skill, planes and pattern book are 
revealed in the adroit first-floor plan, moldings, doors and mantels.

Wood-grain painting, as in the dadoes and doors of this house, is 
known to be early, but its exact decades are so far unknown. The writer 
has not seen such painting in houses later than the 1820's. (Though 
Greek Revival suppressed the dado, some painting did continue through 
mid-century, such as marbleiaitng on baseboards.) The artist, arriving 
with his oil, pigments and feathers, may have worked as soon as the house 
was finished, or ten or twenty years later.

The subsequent chain of ownership, after Crockett and Thomas Amis, 
is quickly told. (It is incorrect in Rogers's The Housing of Oglethorpe 
County,) .. Thomas Amis, Jr., as administrator of 
his father's estate, in 1867 sold to S. R. Aycock for $1,500 all the Big 
Creek tract. By Aycock's will, the Amis tract passed in 1884 to his daugh­ 
ter, Mrs. Martha Elder, for her natural life, then to be divided among her 
children (V,681; PP 81). Mrs. Elder died in 1930 and her son, Courtney B. 
Elder, inheriting a one-ninth share, bought out his siblings and lived on 
the farm until his death in January, 1975. (Deed books ZZ 14, 152, 570 
etc.) In July, 1976 the farm was bought by Dr. Forest Kellogg of Athens, 
who is restoring the house.
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AMENDMENT 
AMIS-ELDER HOUSE, OGLETHORPE COUNTY, GEORGIA

Acreage: Approximately 3 acres x* 

UTM Reference; A-17/290340/3744080 

Quadrangle Name: Barnett Shoals 

Quadrangle Scale: 1:24000

Verbal Boundary Description: Beginning at a point on the road north of the house 
and running east approximately 200 feet to the existing boundary of the property; 
thence south approximately 325 feet to the edge of a gully; thence west approximately 
450 feet to the edge of the woods; thence north approximately 325 feet to the road; 
thence east approximately 250 feet to the point of beginning.

Prepared By;

Ms. Martha Norwood
Historic Preservation Section
Department of Natural Resources
270 Washington Street, S. W.
Atlanta, Georgia 30334
(404) 656-2840

May 18, 1978

A. Lyoi 
Acting State Historic Preservation Officer
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Amis-Elder House

The nomination of 125.98 acres is justified on the grounds 
that this land was part of the original farm acquired in 1810. 
The land is presently not actively farmed, and may be used 
for timber farming in the near future.

Since the nomination was submitted, the house has been extensively 
restored, and according to Patricia Cooper who prepared the 
nomination, it is now in good condition.
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Amis-Elder House, Oglethorpe County

Photographs by: David J. Kaminsky
Date: August, 1976
Negatives filed at: Department of Natural Resources

1. Front facade, looking south.

2. Three quarter view, looking northeast.

3. Parlor Mantel

4. West room or first bedroom, looking into the kitchen.

5. Main Door


